

Accommodation Service

Northumberland Adolescent Services Supported Tenancies

Business Continuity Plan

August 2023

Plan Location and Ownership

Plan Location (electronic copy)	Sharepoint
Plan Owner (Registered manager)	Ginny Younger
Plan Author	Ginny Younger
Version	1
Last Updated (First Version)	4 th August 2023

Change History

Version	Author of Change	Date of Change	Reason for Change

Plan Distribution

Version	Name	Role	Comments

Plan Sign Off

Signed off be Snr Manager Special Services:	Sharron Pearson
Sharron Pearson	
Signed by Director of Children Services:	
Graham Reiter	
Date:	01/09/2023

Contents

- 1.0 General Information
- 1.1 Purpose
- 1.2 Principles
- 1.3 Using the Business Continuity Plan
- 1.4 Important notes about using the Business Continuity Plan
- 1.5 Testing of the Plan
- 1.6 Communication of the Plan
- 1.7 Crisis Recovery Strategy
- 1.8 Major Incident Occurring Locally
- 2. Crisis Recovery Approach
- 2.1 Immediate Response Emergency Evacuation
- 2.2 Contact On-Call
- 2.3 Media Enquiries
- 2.4 Convene Service Crisis Recovery Management Team (Bronze)
- 3. Emergency Response
- 3.1 Water supply failure
- 3.2 Flooding
- 3.3 Electricity Failure
- 3.4 Gas Supply Failure
- 3.5 Loss of Heating
- 3.6 Off Site Activity Incident
- 3.7 Evacuation
- 4. Immediate Actions Checklist
- 5. Loss of Premises
- 5.1 Collect information and assess the impact
- 5.2 Take action
- 6. Loss of People (Unplanned Employee Absence)
- 7. Loss of Technology
- 7.1 Loss of Hardware (PCs, laptops, thin client devices, monitors, printers, faxes, Mobile Phones)
- 7.2 Loss of Software

- 7.2.1 In the event of access being disrupted
- 7.3 Loss of Telecommunication
- 8. Procurement
- 9.0 Media Relations
- 10. Closure of the Service

1. General Information

1.1 Purpose

The accommodation service is part of the wider Northumberland Adolescent Services (NAS) within Northumberland County Council and works with young people who are cared for, care experienced, or young people aged 16-17 years old who are deemed to be children in need.

The service provides a supported tenancies that are used to be provided tailored accommodation and support to young people in need of accommodation. We work in partnership with Northumberland Homes and Advance Northumberland Homes to seek the provision of accommodation and in some instances will work with private landlords to secure property that is suitable and appropriate to the needs of young people.

Whilst the maintenance of the properties reverts to the partners we work with, the accommodation service holds responsibility for the daily maintenance and support to the properties including floating support to the young people in placement.

Our role is to ensure that services can continue when major events occur, and that there is minimal disruption to the young people in placement and they are able to continue to access suitable and appropriate placements that meet their needs.

This Business Continuity Plan provides clear instructions on what Registered managers/Service Leads and their employees should do when faced with an immediate incident response. We aim to ensure that there are practical and effective plans in place to help us to deal with crises and incidents which are outside our control and can affect our service. This can include incidents such as the failure of powert to a building, disruption to water supplies or concerns around a building's structural integrity.

It also sets out the accommodation service plan and response to a number of impact scenarios which may require the plan to be activated.

1.2 Principles

No member of staff should put themselves or others at additional risk when responding to an emergency situation.

The safety of employees, service users, contractors and visitors is of paramount importance.

1.3 Using the Business Continuity Plan

All amendments should be recorded, and a new version number allocated to the plan.

Business Continuity Plan template will be also reviewed by the Accommodation Registered manager on an annual basis. Any changes to the template will be communicated to Service Managers and employees within the service Business Continuity Plan may be subject to review during Internal Audits.

1.4 Important notes about using the Business Continuity Plan

The Registered Manager should review and update the plan at least annually or as and when changes occur.

In the event of an emergency the plan should be reviewed and updated to incorporate lessons learned following an incident.

The Registered manager will need to ensure that arrangements developed for the 'Specific Emergency Incidents' section do not contradict existing arrangements in other plans, policies and guidance issued by Northumberland County Council.

The plan shall be reviewed for suitability and completeness annually by Nominated Individual for the Service (Snr Manager).

The Registered manager will ensure all employees are aware of their responsibilities in the plan, through team meetings and new staff induction.

The Registered manager will be responsible for ensuring that, where appropriate, all employees, service users and visitors are aware of their responsibilities in an emergency.

In the event of an emergency, the plan should be kept in a suitable place so it is easily retrieved in an evacuation.

1.5 Testing of the Plan

The Registered manager is responsible for ensuring that the plan is tested annually (desktop exercise). Where testing identifies changes or additional information that is required, these should be incorporated into the plan.

1.6 Communication of the Plan

The existence of the Business Continuity Plans, and the process for contacting the Registered manager or the emergency duty team in the event of an actual or suspected emergency, is communicated to all staff within the service through service leads and team meetings.

The existence of the Business Continuity Plans, and the process for contacting the Registered manager or the emergency duty team in the event of an actual or suspected emergency, will be covered in the induction for all new staff.

The Service Business Continuity Plan has been circulated to all Senior Management, and they are made aware of any changes as these occur.

1.7 Crisis Recovery Strategy

This plan outlines the processes to be followed, and the key internal and external contacts to make, in the event of a disruption / disaster at the service. The Business Continuity Plan provides details of how the Northumberland Adolescent Services Management Team would coordinate a response in the event of an emergency at one or more the NAS Supported Tenancies.

2. Crisis Recovery Approach

2.1 Immediate Response

Emergency Evacuation

In case of an emergency that requires the individual properties to be evacuated, staff should ensure that the relevant emergency services are contacted and that all service users are safe and accounted for. At this stage the key priority is the welfare of individuals: service users, employees and other parties and at no point should staff enter a property where it has been deemed unsafe to do so or places any individual at risk of harm.

2.2 In the event of an emergency or suspected emergency

Employees should contact the accommodation Registered manager or wider NAS Management team during office hours or the emergency duty team in the event of an incident happening outside of office hours.

The accommodation Registered manager will inform the Nominated Manager of any incidents as they arise

2.3 Media Enquiries

Staff must not speak directly to the media. (See Section 9) Any enquiries from the media relating to the emergency should be referred directly to the Communication Team within the Northumberland County Council.

2.4 Convene Service Crisis Recovery Meeting

Where an incident has occurred a service recovery meeting should be convened. This will involve the Accommodation Registered manager, Service Lead, Nominated Manager and where appropriate support from the Health and Safety Team within the Council.

2.5 Incident Response and Notification

The Scheme Duty Log details key emergency contact numbers for the organisations and suppliers you may need to contact to help with the incident. These numbers are shared with the wider staff team.

Role/Department	Name	Telephone/Email
Director of Children	Graham Rieter	graham.reiter@northumberl
Social Care		and.gov.uk
		07966 337423
Head of Service	Marie Roberts	Email:
		Marie.Roberts@northumberla
		nd.gov.uk
		Mobile:
		07833437064/07762035345
Nominated Person	Sharron Pearson	Sharron.pearson@northum
		berland.gov.uk

Registered Manager	Ginny Younger	ginny.younger@northumbe rland.gov.uk Mobile - 07966 333119
Service Lead – Accommodation Service	Ian Aspinall	ian.aspinall@northumberla nd.gov.uk 07920 567988
Northumberland Out of Hours Service	Emergency Duty Team	0345 600 64000
Health & Safety Officer	Charles Copeland	charles.copeland@northum berland.gov.uk
Communications Lead Officer	Jim Bolland	jim.bolland@northumberlan d.gov.uk
Northumberland Homes	Rebecca Fenwicj	rebecca.fenwick@northum berland.gov.uk
Advance Northumberland Homes	Scott Lavery	scott.lavery@advancenorth umberland.co.uk

Other useful numbers

Organisation	Name	Telephone/Email
Police		101- non emergency
		999 - emergency
Fire Station		999 - Emergency
Northumberland Homes	Repairs Team	0345 600 6400
Advance Northumberland	Repairs Team	01670 528 499
Homes		Emergency repairs can
		be reported between the
		hours of 5pm - 9am on
		<u>01670 528499</u> .
Interpreting Service		0191 421 2221
Local Hospital	NSECH	<u>0344 811 8111</u>
Water Board	Northumbria Water	Emergency: 0800 393084
Electricity Board	Northern Power Grid	<u>0800 011 3332</u>
Gas Board	National Gas Emergency	0800 111 999
	Service	

External alternative accommodation in the area (e.g. Services, Schemes, Homes, Leisure Centres)

In the event of prolonged evacuation, it may be necessary to arrange temporary accommodation for our service users, this will be in discussion with Snr Management and our partners within housing

3. Emergency Response

Appendix 1 to be completed with as much information as possible to enable anyone to be able to implement the actions

3.1 Water supply failure

A loss of supply to a NAS Supported Tenancy is most likely to be because of one of the following:

- Damage to the local supply network in the nearby locality [such as building work or excavations]
- Temporary isolation of the water supply by the water supplier to allow repairs or maintenance to the system [prior warning is usually issued to local people and businesses]

It is important that the Accommodation Registered manager/Service Lead establishes from the water supplier what arrangement will be put in place in the event of a failure.

If a loss of supply occurs the following action must be taken:

- Contact the Water supplier to inform them of the problem.
- Inform employees of the situation and the action being taken to address the problem.
- Obtain as much information from the water supplier about the reason for the failure, the action being taken to correct it and the timescale for re-instating the supply or the arrangements proposed for offering an interim supply.
- If necessary, obtain commitments from the water supplier about providing an alternative supply of drinking water such as bottled or a water bowser.

3.2 Flooding

Flooding may occur because of:

- Leakage from the water supply within a property, which results in minor flooding of the property
- Major flooding of the property from a nearby water source such as a river or from drains.

3.2.1 Water leakage into a section of the property

• Attempt to isolate the water supply to the area by shutting off the supply at the appropriate stopcock.

- In the case of small leaks try to minimise damage by placing a container under the leak or covering the area with towels.
- The area should be cordoned off and temporary notices put in place to prevent accidents.
- During office hours contact the relevant property landlord to organise repairs to the property
- Outside office hours contact the emergency number for the relevant property landlord

3.2.2 Location of stopcocks

The plumber should be informed of exact location of stopcocks.

3.2.3 Major flooding to the Service

If flooding occurs to all or a large part of the property, the Accommodation Registered manager or Service Lead should:

- Call 999, ask for the Fire Service and tell them what has happened.
- Contact the Senior Manager to make them aware of the problem.
- Reassure service users about the situation and if necessary prepare to evacuate the property.
- Contact Communication Team and let them know about the incident.
- If the flood water has come from a local watercourse or is the result of excessive rainfall that could have caused drains or sewers to overflow, it may be contaminated with bacteria, oil/petrol and other pollutants. As far as possible skin contact should be avoided, and if possible, hygiene measures should be implemented such as washing hands before eating or handling food. Make sure service users are aware of the risks.
- The Emergency Services will be prepared to assist with a serious flood.

3.2.5 Arranging for flood damage to be repaired

- To arrange for more extensive flood damage to be repaired, contact the relevant property landlord who will assess the extent of the problem and instruct suitable contactors.
- If a camera is available and it is safe to do so then please take photos of the incident and any damage caused in the event an insurance claim needs to be made.

3.2.6 Liability claims

All liability claims are dealt with by the Councils Risk And Insurance Team and therefore any information relating to a claim or potential claim needs to be sent to them.

3.3 Electricity Failure

3.3.1 Power failure to the whole property

If the power fails the Accommodation Registered manager/Service Lead should:

- Check if the failure is solely confined to the property by looking at surrounding properties/street lighting.
- If the power failure appears to be confined to the property and the power cannot be reset, contact the local electricity supplier to determine whether the problem is caused by a local supply failure.
- If the fault lies within the property contact the relevant property landlord to arrange for immediate electrical repairs.
- Inform your Service Manager that the problem has occurred and the action that has been taken.
- If the loss of power is likely to be prolonged serious consideration must be given to following the evacuation procedure and 'Loss of premises'.

3.3.2 Arranging temporary power

Once you know how quickly power can be restored (the electricity supplier should be able to give you this information), consider whether any of the employees or service users will be at risk as a result of any delay in power being restored.

You will need to consider:

- Activating the evacuation plan, also section 'Loss of premises.
- If there is a risk to service users due to low temperatures in the building, see guidance on loss of heating.

If temporary power is required, there are a number of options:

• Contact the electricity supplier to see if they can support with any heating options

3.4 Gas Supply Failure

3.4.1 Gas leakage

All employees must report any suspected gas leaks to the Accommodation Registered manager and or the Service Lead.

If you suspect a gas leak:

- DO NOT operate light or power switches or any electrical equipment in the scheme of the leakage.
- NO NAKED FLAMES
- Reassure the young people in placement and prepare to evacuate the building in the event of a gas leakage.
- Where practical, open windows/doors to ventilate the scheme.

- Contact National Grid, which is the only organisation able to deal with gas emergencies
- The Registered Manager should liaise with National Grid and follow their recommendations concerning the evacuation of the scheme. •

During working hours, the Registered Manager should inform their manager to make them aware of the situation.

Gas Turn-off Points:

- The gas supply can be turned off by turning the lever in a clockwise direction.
- If in doubt seek advice from your gas supplier for the location of the turn-off point and update the Scheme Duty Log.
- In certain instances, such as a gas leak, National Grid may turn off the heating boilers and isolate the gas supply.
- Following an interruption to the gas supply follow manufacturer's instructions to restart the boiler.
- You will need to contact appropriate landlord/housing association to arrange for a heating engineer to repair the leak and start the boilers.

3.4.2 Loss of gas supply

If the interruption to the gas supply is unlikely to be very short-term you should take the following action:

- Contact your Registered Manager to discuss the situation.
- Consider the installation of temporary electrical heating in the affected areas.
- Consider if it is necessary to evacuate employees or young people to a place of safety.

3.5 Loss of Heating

If the fault appears to be only linked to the NAS Supported Tenancy and is not affecting other properties within the vicinity:

- Report the fault to the registered manager.
- When the heating engineer has inspected the boiler ask what the problem is and how long the scheme will be without heating.
- The Workplace (Health Safety and Welfare) Regulations state that temperature in workplaces should reach at least 16° C unless much of the work requires physical effort.
- If the temperature is likely to drop below 16° C for less than 4 hours you must: o Inform your registered manager, who will determine what action needs to be taken to address the problem and ensure both young people and staff remain safe.

Arrangement will need to be arranged to source alternative heating sources [oil filled radiators are the safest option]

- If heating loss is likely to be for an extended period with the temperature dropping below 16° C for longer than 4 hours, consider whether the evacuation procedure needs to be implemented.
- If portable gas heaters are hired, the area heated must be adequately ventilated to prevent the potential build-up of poisonous carbon monoxide.
- If the problem seems to be with the external gas or electric supply to the property, take the action outlined in the relevant sections of this plan.

3.6 Off Site Activity Incident

If any incident happens whilst employees are working off site which puts them at risk, the following procedure should be followed:

- Employees working off site should take immediate action to safeguard themselves and the service users by contacting, where appropriate, the emergency services.
- Employees should then contact the registered manager or their service lead and report the incident.
- Employees involved in an off-site activity should also log the incident and any actions taken.
- The incident should be recorded on the NCC Anvil Incident Reporting Form and procedures therein followed.
- The registered manager or their service leads should then report the incident to their senior manager and where appropriate speak to the corporate health and safety team.
- The registered manager should contact the Communication Team and let them know about the incident and refer any calls from the press to the Press Office.
- Where appropriate, incidents will be discussed with the wider staff team to ensure the safety of all staff and young people and any risk assessments devised following the incident will be shared appropriately

3.7 Evacuation Circumstances in which evacuation might be necessary:

- Loss of access to the building
- Loss of building
- Loss of essential services

4. Immediate Actions Checklist

The immediate actions described are for both inside and outside of business office hours. The person responsible for carrying out these immediate actions will be the Registered Manager or another member of staff in charge of the Service.

Where any incident has taken place outside of office hours, the Emergency Duty Team will be the main point of contact and the Snr Registered Manager on call will be notified of the incident by the Emergency Duty Team

- Location risk assessment to be updated and list concerns and actions taken as soon as is possible
- Liaise with Emergency Services
- · Identify any damage
- Identify functions disrupted
- Meet the emergency services at the property entrance when they arrive, give an update on what has happened so far and provide details of young people living in the property and staff who may have been visiting the property
- Provide information to employees and young people as necessary
- Decide on the course of action
- Communicate decisions to employees and senior management
- Provide public information to maintain reputation by referring any enquires from the press and media to the Communication Team
- Arrange a debrief with the staff team
- Review the Business Continuity Plan.

5. Loss of Premises

You will need to identify the landlord or alternative body responsible for the property. Consult the landlord regarding their arrangement plans in case of a crisis or business disruption.

5.1 Collect information and assess the impact

- Assess the situation, understand what has happened
- · Account for all employees, service users and visitors in the property
- Evaluate the impact to employees, premises and service users
- Decide whether to activate the plan set out below

5.2 Take action

- Account for all employees, service users and visitors
- Identify what has caused the problem
- Evaluate how long expected loss of premises is likely to be

- Contact emergency services if required (police, fire service, ambulance service, utility companies (water, electricity, gas, other).
- Registered Manager to inform Senior Manager of the situation.
- Senior Manager will escalate to Director of Children Social Care
- Registered Manager to work with partner agencies to ensure that service uses have access to alternative accommodation. This could include moving service users to an alternative NAS Supported Tenancy or accessing emergency accommodation
- Registered Manager and employees to ensure priority of service users' needs.
- Registered Manager and service lead to maintain contact with employees and service users in the field to ensure they are kept up to date with the situation.
- Registered Manager or service lead to keep in touch with absent employees to advise of the situation.
- Registered Manager or service lead to liaise with the relevant repairs' agencies and / or contractors regarding progress with completion of work on the service.
- If staffing levels are affected, follow should be followed
- Registered Manager or service lead to be the main point for contact for the service during the initial period in which staffing is affected and all enquiries are to be diverted to them
- Registered Manager or service lead to contact key stakeholders (i.e. local authority, expected suppliers, visitors) to advise of situation and provide details of temporary location.
- Registered Manager or service lead to report the Accident via the Anvil reporting system
- Registered Manager or service lead to identify additional resources required i.e. IT equipment, telephones, supplies.
- It is important that the Registered Manager and Senior Manager keep in touch with absent employees and inform them that they need to work from a different location.
- Registered Manager to contact Communication Team to provide details and update of the situation.
- Registered Manager to take appropriate action to find alternative facilities.
- Registered Manager to liaise with partners within housing or the private landlord to determine when the property will be safe to be used by the young people
- Registered Manager to keep employees, young people and stakeholders informed of when affected property will be fully operational.

Once it is established that it is known or predicated that the property will be unavailable for a period of more than 12 hours:

- Follow the short-term plan to establish if further relocation may be required
- Ensure that any changes in relocation are communicated both internally and externally and with the young people affected

6. Loss of People (Unplanned Employee Absence)

A significant loss of staff would immediately have an adverse impact on the delivery of service and potential risk to young people. The Registered Manager should collect information and assess the impact

- Identify what has caused the problem.
- Evaluate how long the employees are expected to be absent.
- Communicate clear, direct instructions to the remaining staff team.
- Evaluate the physical disruption this may cause to young people.
- Evaluate the impact on our stakeholders (check with local authority emergency planning).
- Assess financial implications which the loss of employees may cause and what additional resources may be needed.
- The Registered Manager will inform the Senior Manager of situation, and the action required to resolve the impact.
- The Registered Manager and the Senior Manager will make a collaborative decision as to the immediate actions required.
- The Registered Manager with approval of Senior Manager will take action to provide immediate cover for critical tasks by means of the following:
 - Prioritise tasks and withdraw non-essential tasks to minimise disruption to the service and young people in placement
 - Liaise with Team Managers from nearest Service to identify any resource available for emergency cover. Contact details of staff available to be emailed to Registered Manager.
 - Registered Manager to inform Senior Manager if a shortfall still remains.
 - Registered Manager or service lead to ensure any changes to staffing arrangements are communicated immediately to staff and young people
 - Registered Manager to inform Senior Manager if complete relocation of Service is necessary
 - Registered Manager to complete the Accident and Incident reporting via Anvil and liaise with the Health and Safety Team.
 - Registered Manager to consult with HR service link to seek advise if you feel that any employee needs counselling and support services following an incident or accident.
 - Please refer to the council's health and well-being policy re sickness absence to ensure that employees are aware of their entitlement. Also managers to

- refer to sickness absence toolkit to ensure that are following process and to support them in getting fit employees back to work.
- It is important that the Registered Manager keep in touch with absent employees and inform them that they need to work from a different location.

7. Loss of Technology

7.1 Loss of Hardware - (PCs, laptops, monitors, printers, faxes, Mobile Phones and Wi-Fi connections)

Collect information and assess the impact

- · Assess the situation, and evaluate what has happened
- Evaluate how long the loss of service is likely to be
- Evaluate the impact on service delivery take action
- If for any reason the hardware or software is not available, you will need to contact IT Help Desk immediately to confirm if it is an isolated incident or impact on all of the business.
- Registered Manager to contact Senior Manager to advise of situation and possible impact.
- Use telephone / mobile to communicate with staff.
- •. If long term disruption likely contact IT Helpdesk to determine alterative arrangements that can be put in place
- If you have any data protection concerns in the case of loss of confidential information, please contact Head of Compliance & Data Governance with the Council.

7.2 Loss of Software

The scenario covered here is for the loss of communications to service including internet access.

7.2.1 In the event of access being disrupted

In the event of access being lost, follow the below process:

- a) Contact the IT Helpdesk to inform that access has been lost. This could be due to broadband failure or telephone line failure. The Helpdesk will check that it is one scheme and not an overall systems issue and run through basic checks to locate the problem of the outage and log the call.
- b) The Helpdesk will be able to advise on the expected timescale to resolve the issue whether short or long term. If not straight away, then when the problem has been identified and the appropriate supplier whether broadband or telephone line has been contacted and the fault has been logged.

7.3 Loss of Telecommunication

- If telecommunications are unavailable for use for whatever reason you will need to contact the IT Help Desk.
- If telephone communication is not possible MS Outlook should be used to communicate.
- Registered Manager or service lead to send update once telecommunications are restored.

8. Procurement

If during a crisis financial funding is required for recovery and the Registered Manager or senior member of staff in charge is unable to order goods or services through the normal routine the following options are available:

- Use of a NAS debit card is to be agreed for the purchased of good/services purchases
- NAS duty to support with the completion of a CH5 financial request and this will be approved by the Registered Manager or alternative Team Manager.

Once the money has been spent, receipts, authorised vouchers, and unspent money should be returned to the admin team within NAS.

9. Media Enquiries

If staff are contact by a journalist or any member of the media, staff should:

- Avoid any direct conversations about the situation.
- Inform the reporter to refer any media enquiries to the Communication team within the council
- Never use the expressions 'no comment' as this could suggest that you have something to hide.
- Endeavour to get the reporter's name, publication, email and telephone number.
- Alert the Registered Manager and the Communication team straight away to advise of the contact and to provide any details for the journalist

10. Closure of the Service

10.1 In the advent of an adverse Ofsted Inspection that results in a closure notice being placed upon on the service (either temporary or permanent) please refer to the contingency plan for the service.